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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COgr 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 
DALLAS SCOTT BOHANAN 

CASE NUMBER: J J 
t 

I, the undersigned complainant being duly sworn, state the following is true and 

correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. 

On or about February 5, 2019, in Bell County, in the Western District of Texas 

defendant(s), intentionally and knowingly, by force and violence and by 

intimidation, did take property belonging to and in the car, custody, control, 

management and possession of the Pointwest Bank, located at 420 North Hewitt 

Drive, Hewitt, McLennan County, Texas, the deposits of which were then insured 

by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, and did put in leppardy the life of an 

emolovee by use of a danoerous weapon or device, to-wit: a firearm, in violation of 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 2113(a) and (d). 

I further state that I am a(n) Special Agent, Federal Bureu of Investigation, 

and that this complaint is based on the following facts: 

SEE ATTACHED AFFIDAVIT 

continued on the attached sheet and made a part hereof: YES 

W. ANDESONiecial Agent 
ral Bureau oMesidtion 

Sworn to before me and subscribed in my presence, 

Februarv6, 2019 co, Texas 
Date City a d State 

Jeffrey C. Manske 
U.S. District Judge - 
Name & Title of Judicial Officer gn ure J cial Officer 
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United States District Court 

Western District of Texas, Waco Division 

Affidavit 

1. Your Affiant \is a Special Agent (SA) of the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), United States 

Department of Justice. I have been employed as an SA of the FBI fr over 13 years and am 

currently assigned to the San Antonio Division, Waco Resident Agency (WRA) in Waco, Texas. I 

am currently assigned to a violent crime squad where my responsibilities include enforcing federal 

criminal statutes, including investigating crimes against federally insured financial institutions. As 

part of these duties, your Affiant has become involved in the investigation of suspected violations 

of Title 18, United States Code, § 2113 and Title 18 United States Code, § 924(c)(1)(a). The facts 

in this affidavit come from your Affiant's personal observations, his training and experience, and 

information obtained from other law enforcement officers and witnesses. 

2. The statements contained in this affidavit are based on information provided to your Affiant by 

other law enforcement officers who investigate these types of crimes and through his personal 

investigation. Your Affiant has set forth herein the facts I believe are necessary to establish 

probable cause that said violation does exist. 

3. Since this affidavit is being submitted for the limited purpose of securing an arrest warrant, your 

Affiant has not included each and every fact known to him concerning this investigation. Your 

affiant has set forth only facts that I believe are necessary to establish probable cause. 

Background of the Investigation 

4. On November 15, 2016, at approximately 5:47 p.m., a thin white male, carrying a black, pump- 

action shotgun and a black backpack, entered the Chase Bank located at 320 North New Road in 

Waco, McLennan County, Texas. The male wore a white skeleton, or skull, mask. As the robber 

entered the bank, he discharged one (1) shotgun round into the ceiling and demanded "everybody 

down." The male walked to a teller station where he demanded the teller to give him "all the 

fucking money." The teller complied, placing the money into a black backpack. The robber then 

took the money in the backpack and exited the bank. He fled in a light tan, older model, extended 

cab Dodge pickup which had been backed in to the front of the bank. \Iitnesses who observed 

the truck stated the vehicle did not have any license plates. The total amount stolen was 

$2,650.00. 

5. On November 15, 2016, law enforcement officers arrived at Chase BanI. Investigators were able 

to collect surveillance video of the robbery, which was of very good qt.aIity. Investigators were 

also able to collect one shotgun shell casing within the bank. 

6. On November 23, 2016, at approximately 9:03 a.m., a thin white maId, described as being 6'O" 

tall, entered the Temple Santa Fe Community Credit Union (TSFCCU) located at 1750 West Avenue 

A, in Temple, Bell County, Texas, carrying an AK-47 rifle and a black and gray Under Armour back- 

pack. The male wore a white skeleton, or skull, mask. As the robber entered the bank, he 

discharged four (4) rifle rounds into the ceiling, said "Good morning" and then demanded money. 
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The male walked with the loan officer to one of the teller stations. Ther the teller placed money 

into the black backpack. The robber then took the money in the backpa k and exited TSFCCU. He 

fled in a light tan, older model, extended cab Dodge pickup which had b en backed in to the front 

of the bank. A witness who observed the truck stated the vehicle did nct have any license plates. 

The total amount stolen was $4,553.00. 

7. On November 23, 2016, law enforcement officers arrived at TSFCCU. Investigators were able to 

collect surveillance video of the robbery, which was of very good quality. Investigators were also 

able to collect four black 7.62 mm shell casings within the bank. 

8. In comparing still photographs and surveillance video, and considering the method in which the 

banks (Chase Bank and TSFCCU) were robbed, investigators believed both banks were robbed by 

the same individual. 

9. Despite a media release and a request to the public for assistance in locating and apprehending 

the unknown thin, white male, few leads were generated. Each lead was quickly followed but 

resulted in no identification of the subject. 

10. On February 5, 2019, at approximately 9:06 a.m., a thin white male wearing a skeleton, or skull, 

mask entered the Pointwest Bank located at 420 North Hewitt Drive, in Hewitt, McLennan County, 

Texas, carrying a .22 caliber rifle and a black back-pack. While inside the bank, the robber 

demanded money be placed in a backpack. The robber also began to smash phones within the 

bank with the butt of the .22 caliber rifle. During the commission of the robbery, one .22 caliber 

live round was found inside the bank. The total amount stolen was $3,479.00. 

11. Following the robbery, the white male exited the bank. Upon seeing law enforcement, the robber 

fired at least two (2) rounds in the direction of a responding officer. The robber then fled in a 

light tan, older model, extended cab Dodge pickup, leading officers on a high-speed chase from 

Hewitt into Waco, Texas. During the chase, the robber fired at least two (2) shotgun rounds at a 

chasing police vehicle. The robber evaded police for a moment, but eventually lost control of his 

vehicle and crashed, spilling money into the street and nearby area. The robber left the crash 

scene on foot, but was apprehended soon thereafter by Waco Police Department. The robber 

was then identified as Dallas Scott Bohanan. 

12. In documenting and processing the crash scene, law enforcement was able to identify a skeleton, 

or skull, mask inside of the Dodge pickup. 

13. On February 5, 2019, while conducting search of the crash area for evidence related to the 

robbery of Pointwest Bank, law enforcement located and recovered a black and gray Under 

Armour backpack and a shotgun. The items were located next to a residential air conditioner unit. 

Investigators were very confident this was the backpack used in the robbery and the shotgun used 

to fire at responding police officers. Upon further inspection, a large sum of money, some of 

which was wrapped in bands, was found inside of the backpack. Including money recovered at 

and around the crash scene, investigators were able to recover $2,984.00. 

14. On February 5, 2019, your Affiant and Texas Ranger Jake Burson interviewed Bohanan. Bohanan 

immediately admitted to robbing Pointwest Bank, stating he was tired df working in the fast food 

industry and that he wanted a better life. Bohanan initially stated he had only robbed one bank. 

However, after being presented with the recovery of the skeleton mask, Bohanan quickly 

admitted to robbing Chase Bank in Waco and TSFCCU in Temple. Bohanan admitted to firing a 
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weapon during the commission and/or escape of each of the three (3) robberies. Bohanan 

provided several details not known to the public about the robberies uring his confession, to 

include: actions taken before the robberies, weapons used, numbek of shots fired at each 

location, interaction with bank employees during the commission of the robberies, and directions 

of travel. Bohanan further admitted that the shotgun he had used folkDwing the robbery of the 

Pointwest Bank was the same shotgun used to rob Chase Bank in Waco. Additionally, Bohanan 

stated the AK-47 rifle used in the robbery of TSFCCU in Temple was located at his residence. 

Bohanan indicated his mother would know exactly where the AK-47 was located. 

15. On February 5, 2019, investigators traveled to Bohanan's residence and met with Bohanan's 

mother. After providing consent to enter and search the residence, investigators were able to 

locate and recover a Century Arms RAS47 (AK-47) rifle. Investigators also seized well over 2,000 

rounds of black 7.62 mm ammunition, matching that of the spent shell casings recovered at 

TSFCCU. 

16. Chase Bank, 320 North New Road in Waco, McLennan County, Texas, is federally insured by the 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and is located within the Western District of Texas. 

17. Temple Santa Fe Community Credit Union, 1750 West Avenue A, in Temple, Bell County, Texas, is 

federally insured by the National Credit Union Administration (NCUA) and is located within the 

Western District of Texas. 

18. Pointwest Bank, 420 North Hewitt Drive, in Hewitt, McLennan County, Texas, is federally insured 

by the FDIC and is located within the Western District of Texas. 

Conclusion 

19. Based upon the aforementioned facts, there is probable cause to believe that one or more 

violations of 18 United States Code, § 2113 and Title 18 United States Code, § 924(c)(1)(a) have 

been committed by Dallas Scott Bohanan. 

20. Accordingly, your Affiant respectfully requests that an arrest warrant be issued for Dallas Scott 

Bohanan. 

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT. 

OI-N W. ANDEF%SON,\jecial Agent 
-eral Bureau o'tjnvetigation 

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED before me on the 6th day..oLbruary, 2019. 

JEFFIY C,MFKE 
UNI1(ED?TATES MAGISIATE JUDGE 
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